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This announcement, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept full

responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing

of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the purpose of

giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable

enquires, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained

in this announcement is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading

or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any

statement herein or this announcement misleading.

This announcement will be published on the Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk

and the Company’s website at www.echogroup.com.hk.
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Training on safety
We actively promote workplace safety culture. We provide employees with adequate training on occupational 
health to keep up employees’ awareness against workplace health and safety, thereby minimising work-related 
risks, preventing the occurrence of accidents in operation and reducing occupational hazards. Moreover, in 
order to enable our employees to understand and practice the contingency measures in case of emergency, we 
arrange different emergency drills every year, such as fire drills and integrated emergency drills.

Occupational safety and health management for our restaurants

The number of industrial accidents occurred in the catering industry rank first among all industries in Hong 
Kong. Therefore, the Group maintains constant vigilance in this regard and strives to enhance the occupational 
safety and health standards and culture within our restaurants. We have been sharing with our staff the 
information on occupational safety and health in the catering industry issued by the Occupational Safety and 
Health Council to provide preventive advice on different workplace safety risks and minimize the possibility of 
injury.

Safety management at office
We provide our employees with suitable facilities in our office such as adjustable chairs with handles, the latest 
training on the operation of display devices, and regular risk assessment of using display devices. In addition to 
provision of equipment, the Group will provide the newly recruited employees with training on safety at office, 
so as to raise our employees’ safety awareness.
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7.3	 Career development
Management principles and policies
The Group believes that acquisition of new knowledge and technology can enable the Group to maintain its 
competitiveness. Therefore, we encourage our employees to be lifelong learner to grow together with the 
Group and foster a continuous learning culture to enhance the value of teams and the professionalism of 
employees, thus helping the Group sustain its success.

In order to assist our newly recruited employees to adapt to the Group’s work culture and environment, we 
provide pre-employment training for them, including information about our corporate culture, employee 
handbooks, job skills and relevant safety knowledge, with an aim of enhancing their understanding of the 
Company, their position and working environment.

In addition, we are dedicated to building a professional technical team through providing latest courses in 
relation to skills and management to our employees on a regular basis. In addition, employees may apply for 
relevant courses held by relevant trade unions or colleges. The Company will consider internal promotion for 
those employees with good performance when they finish their courses.

The average number of training hours per employee of the Group received during the reporting period is as 
follows:

Average number of training hours per employee (hours)

0 2 4 6

General staff

Middle management

Supervisors

Senior management

Female

Male

Male 4.18
Female 4.85

Senior management 3.14
Middle management 2.50

Supervisors 4.08
General staff 4.93
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7.4	 Rights and interests protection
Management principles and policies
The Group has been committed to protecting its employees’ rights and interests and creating a fair working 
environment for them. Therefore, the Group strictly prohibits the recruitment of child labour and illegal labour 
and the use of any forms of forced labour. To avoid hiring illegal labour, during job recruitment, we check every 
applicant’s identification card and other valid documents for age verification. We strictly verify the identification 
of each applicant to ensure that relevant information complies with local laws. In case overtime work is needed 
for completing their tasks, in order to ensure that it is on voluntary basis and under the principle of fairness, 
employees will fill in overtime application sheets after being informed of the overtime working tasks.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any case in relation to the use of child labour and 
forced labour.

8.	 Operational commitment
8.1	 Supply chain management

Management principles and policies
The steady development of the Group’s business is dependent on the reliable support of its suppliers. 
Suppliers are one of the important stakeholders in the Group’s business value chain, and our relationship 
with them is close and inseparable. The Group is also fully committed to building a good partnership with 
our suppliers. To promote the business and cooperation with suppliers,, the Group has stipulated internal 
rules to regulate the process of public tender and quotation. The Group will also explain our principles and 
expectations to our partners and establish effective mechanisms to ensure that both parties will strictly act 
in accordance with laws and regulations.

Green supply chain
While actively consolidating its internal sustainable development management, the Group also hopes to 
exert its influence in the supply chain to contribute to sustainable development together with suppliers, 
customers and other stakeholders. Therefore, the Group gives first priority to the suppliers with awards or 
certificates in relation to corporate social responsibility. The scope of corporate social responsibility 
includes elements such as product and service quality, environmental protection, community involvement 
and conscientious employer. We require all suppliers to comply with the “Code for Suppliers” prepared by 
the Group and we assess on annual basis whether the suppliers’ performance meets our requirements for 
corporate social responsibility, product and service quality.

Suppliers’ engagement
The Group stipulated new supplier management measures in 2017. The Company will adopt a series of 
measures to evaluate supplier’s performance and appropriateness before entering into a transaction, with 
an aim to ensure the suppliers are in compliance with all local laws and regulations as well as the Group’s 
requirements.

The control measures included:

•	 Conduct sample tests to ensure that the materials provided meet relevant standards for producing 
safe products with high quality.

•	 Conduct company background investigations, which include reviewing the relationship between the 
supplier’s management and the Company to prevent conflicts of interest; conducting site inspections 
to ensure that the supplier will be able to provide suitable services or products that meets relevant 
standards and prevent the occurrence of fraud; and conducting investigations through the Internet 
to review the supplier’s basic information and past governance performance.
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8.2	 Safe production
Management principles and policies
The Group has been upholding the operating philosophy of “Quality First”, and has been committed to 
providing customers with high quality, professional and excellent products and services. Therefore, we are 
committed to providing customers with quality, healthy and safe products and services in compliance with 
applicable local and international laws. Since 2000, we have been continuously accredited with the 
international management standards of the quality management system (ISO 9001).

During the reporting period, the Group has not received any reports or related complaints on product 
recalls due to safety and quality issues.

Quality service
Customer satisfaction has always been the key to the success of the Group. We strive to exceed our 
customers’ expectations by improving the performance of all aspects of our business. We have developed 
the code of practices for employees to improve customer service processes. Furthermore, when quality 
and safety problems arise in our products or services, the Group will immediately conduct an in-depth 
investigation to identify the causes, and at the same time, the Group will formulate corresponding 
mitigation measures to reduce the impact of the problems and prevent re-occurrence of the same 
problems.

Product safety
The Group provides customers with accurate and true information about product quality and safety. The 
products provided by us are subject to quality inspection and the product quality and safety inspection 
records can be provided at the request of individual customers. Quality assurance is given for all of our 
products.

After-sale services
Customer feedback is the major contributor for driving the Group forward, and therefore we maintain 
good communication with our customers to understand their requirements so as to improve our products 
and services. Hotline service is also available for customers’ enquiries on product details.

Privacy protection for consumers’ information
In terms of customer’s personal data and confidential documents, personal data collected and held are 
properly protected by us. To prevent leakage of information, we also prohibit our employees from 
disclosing any confidential or proprietary information to third parties. All of our employees are required to 
comply with privacy policies regarding personal information and local regulations to protect customers’ 
information. During the reporting period, we did not receive any complaint in relation to proven breach of 
customer privacy or loss of customer information.

Fair business practices
The Group adopts sound promotion and marketing practices, and any advertisement shall not make a 
description, claim or explanation that is inconsistent with the facts. We will also formulate our sales and 
promotional documents in accordance with the relevant laws and codes of practice to ensure that our 
promotional materials and advertising content are true, fair and reasonable and not misleading, so as to 
protect the interests of consumers.
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8.3	 Corporate governance
Management principles and policies
The Group is committed to building a corporate culture of integrity and business ethics. We will not 
tolerate any form of corruption, including bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. Therefore, in 
order to establish ethical corporate culture, the Board of the Company is comprised of members from 
different institutions to jointly monitor the corporate governance of the Company.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any lawsuits involving corruption filed against 
the Group or its individual employee or any cases regarding corruption.

Prevention and supervision
In order to promote a corporate culture of integrity and anti-corruption, we have established internal code 
of business ethics. When there are cases of conflict of interest, they must be reported to the human 
resources department. If any employee is involved in any corruption and fraud conduct, we will impose 
penalties based on the influence and consequence of such conduct according to the corporate rules. If the 
behavior violates the law, it will be handled by the judicial authority according to law with zero tolerance.

Furthermore, we will also provide anti-corruption trainings to management and procurement department 
which are facing higher risks of conflict of interest to minimise the risk of participating in corruption and 
bribery activities. Meanwhile, we have also stipulated an equal, open and fair tendering process for the 
procurement of products or services, which will be reviewed and approved by personnel at different ranks 
based on the contracted amounts so as to reduce the risk of participating in corruption and bribery 
activities.

Whistleblowing policy
In order to resolutely resist the occurrence of incidents such as corruption and fraud, the Group has 
whistleblowing policy in place. Employees and all stakeholders can report any suspected inappropriate or 
illegal behaviour to the Group through confidential ways such as email and telephone. All reported cases 
are kept confidential to protect the interests of the whistleblowers. We will not tolerate any behavior of 
corruption. Serious cases will be reported to the relevant law enforcement authorities.

9.	 Community contribution
We understand that we should fulfill our obligations as a corporate citizen and contribute to the communities 
we serve. Although the Group has not formulated any policy on charitable donations, we have made donations 
and sponsorships to support non-profit making organisations in respond to the cultural, educational and other 
social needs.
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Summary of data performance

Environmental performance
Employees Unit
Number of employees Number of persons 175

Pollutants emissions
Solid waste
Hazardous waste kilogrammes 60.00
Hazardous waste intensity kilogrammes per employee 0.34
Non-hazardous waste tonnes 51.20
Non-hazardous waste intensity tonnes per employee 0.29

Greenhouse gas emissions and intensity
Total greenhouse gas emissions tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 1,058.87
Direct emission tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 6.71
Energy-related indirect emissions tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 1,052.61
Emission intensity tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent

  per employee 6.05

Energy use
Power purchased kilowatts-hour 691,462.00
Intensity of power consumed kilowatts-hour per employee 3,951.21
Gasoline (mobile source) liters 2,607.97
Intensity of gasoline consumed liters per employee 14.90
Municipal water cubic meters 10,630.00
Intensity of water consumed cubic meters per employee 60.74
Gas KJ 873,744.00
Intensity of gas consumed KJ per employee 4,992.82

Packaging material consumption
Plastic tonnes 2.41
Paper tonnes 10.72
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HONG KONG STOCK EXCHANGE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE 
REPORTING GUIDE INDEX

Subject Areas/Aspects/Comply or explain
Provisions of ESG Reporting Guide Chapters of the ESG Report Page

A. Environmental
Aspect A1: Emissions 6.1 Pollution control 39
Aspect A2: Use of Resources 6.2 Making good use of resources 40
Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources 6.3 Green operation 42

B. Social
Employment and Labour Practices Aspect
Aspect B1: Employment 7.1 Growth on win-win basis 43
Aspect B2: Health and Safety 7.2 Occupational health and safety 46
Aspect B3: Development and Training 7.3 Career development 48
Aspect B4: Labour Standards 7.4 Rights and interests protection 49

Operating Practices
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management 8.1 Supply chain management 49
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility 8.2 Safe production 50
Aspect B7: Anticorruption 8.3 Corporate governance 51
Aspect B8: Community Investment 9. Community contribution 51
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31/F Gloucester Tower
The Landmark
11 Pedder Street Central
Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ECHO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Echo International Holdings Group Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 60 to 158, which comprise 
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 
the Group as at 31 March 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
   

Interests in associates
Refer to Notes 3 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

On 24 October 2018, the Group acquired 30% equity 
interest in Bluemount Financial Group Limited and its 
subsidiaries (collectively named as “Bluemount Group”). 
The fair value of total consideration was HK$6,200,000 
was recognised in relation to the investment in 
Bluemount Group. The fair value of net identifiable of 
associate’s assets acquired exceeded the fair value of 
consideration paid at date of acquisition. As a result, the 
Group has recognised gain from bargain purchase of 
approximately HK$11,241,000 in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income. Management engaged independent professional 
external valuers to determine fair values of the assets and 
liabilities acquired in the acquisitions, including the 
identification and valuation of intangible assets and 
determine the recoverable amount of investment in 
associate at year end date based on value in use 
calculation for impairment assessment.

The valuations requires the application of significant 
judgement and estimation by the management in 
determining the appropriate appropriate valuation 
methodology to be used, use of subjective assumptions 
and various unobservable inputs.

Our procedures in relation to the management’s 
determination of fair values of associates’ net identifiable 
assets acquired and impairment assessments of interests 
in associates included:

•	 Evaluating the competency, capabilities and 
objectivity of the independent professional external 
valuer;

•	 Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation 
methodology, key assumptions and estimates used 
based on our knowledge of the relevant industry 
and using our valuation experts;

•	 Challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions 
used based on our knowledge of the business and 
industry; and

•	 Checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and 
relevance of the input data used.

We found that  the  assumpt ions  made by  the 
management in relation to the value in use calculations 
to be reasonable based on available evidence.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
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2019 2018
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue 5 52,817 38,324
Cost of sales (41,295) (28,679)

  

Gross profit 11,522 9,645
Other gains or loss, net 7 6,859 1,068
Selling and distribution expenses (1,475) (1,188)
Administrative and other expenses (24,275) (23,491)
Finance costs 8 (2,043) (720)
Share of result of associates 16 14,721 –

  

Profit/(loss) before taxation 9 5,309 (14,686)
Taxation 10 (37) (30)

  

Profit/(loss) for the year 5,272 (14,716)
  

Other comprehensive (loss)/income, net of tax:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating of foreign operations (2,252) 997

  

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, net of income tax (2,252) 997
  

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 3,020 (13,719)
  

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to the owners 
  of the Company 5,272 (14,716)

  

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year attributable 
  to the owners of the Company 3,020 (13,719)

  

Earnings/(loss) per share
  — Basic (in HK cents) 12 0.5 (1.6)

  

  — Diluted (in HK cents) 12 0.1 (1.6)
  

All of the Group’s operations are classed as continuing.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of consolidated financial statements.
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2019 2018
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 4,817 2,585
Interests in associates 16 20,921 –
Deferred tax asset 30 18 –

  

25,756 2,585
  

Current assets
Inventories 17 12,625 13,301
Trade receivables 18 4,616 4,728
Amount due from a related company 19 98 196
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 20 3,891 6,343
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 21 8,201 1,737
Pledged time deposits 22 2,039 2,012
Cash and bank balances 22 8,310 13,340

  

39,780 41,657
  

Current liabilities
Trade payables 23 2,293 3,667
Accruals and other payables 24 2,158 2,571
Trade deposits received – 1,268
Contract liabilities 26 654 –
Tax payable 212 41
Bank borrowing 27 146 –
Obligation under finance lease 28 121 96

  

5,584 7,643
  

Net current assets 34,196 34,014
  

Total assets less current liabilities 59,952 36,599
  

Non-current liabilities
Bank borrowing 27 402 –
Obligation under finance lease 28 259 399
Convertible bonds 29 17,411 7,586
Deferred tax liabilities 30 922 399

  

18,994 8,384
  

Net assets 40,958 28,215
  

Capital and reserves
Share capital 31 2,550 2,400
Reserves 38,408 25,815

  

Total equity 40,958 28,215
  

Approved by the Board of Directors on 19 June 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

Lo, Yan Yee Cheng, Yeuk Hung
Executive Director Executive Director
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Convertible

bond-

Share equity

Share Share Contribution Capital option Exchange component Accumulated

capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Note 34(a) Note 34(b) Note 34(c) Note 34(d) Note 34(e)
          

As at 1 April 2017 2,000 28,840 4,836 (89) 5,794 (1,214) – (26,982) 13,185

Total comprehensive income/(loss)

  for the year – – – – – 997 – (14,716) (13,719)

Share placing 400 25,680 – – – – – – 26,080

Issuance cost on share placing – (1,044) – – – – – – (1,044)

Issuance of convertible bonds – – – – – – 4,242 – 4,242

Issuance cost on convertible bonds – – – – – – (119) – (119)

Deferred tax liability arising from

  issue of convertible bonds – – – – – – (410) – (410)
         

As at 31 March 2018 2,400 53,476 4,836 (89) 5,794 (217) 3,713 (41,698) 28,215

Impact of adopting HKFRS 9 (Note 2) – – – – – – – (24) (24)
         

Restated opening balance under

  HKFRS 9 as at 1 April 2018 2,400 53,476 4,836 (89) 5,794 (217) 3,713 (41,722) 28,191

Total comprehensive (loss)/income

  for the year – – – – – (2,252) – 5,272 3,020

Issue of shares in relation to acquisition 

  of associates 150 5,850 – – – – – – 6,000

Issuance of convertible bonds – – – – – – 4,518 – 4,518

Issuance cost on convertible bonds – – – – – – (127) – (127)

Deferred tax liability arising from

  issue of convertible bonds – – – – – – (644) – (644)
         

As at 31 March 2019 2,550 59,326 4,836 (89) 5,794 (2,469) 7,460 (36,450) 40,958
         

The accompanying notes form an integral part of consolidated financial statements.
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2019 2018
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Operating activities
Profit/(loss) before taxation 5,309 (14,686)

Adjustments for:
Interest income 7 (35) (7)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment – (210)
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value 
  through profit or loss 7 (5,562) 294
Inventories write down – 832
Share of result of associates 16 (14,721) –
Interest expenses 8 2,043 720
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 15 1,269 444
Allowance for expected credit loss/impairment loss recognised in 
  respect of trade receivables 9, 18 81 690
Allowance for expected credit loss recognised in respect of
  amount due from a related company 9, 19 1 –

  

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (11,615) (11,923)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables 3 (722)
Increase in inventories (137) (1,147)
Decrease/(increase) in deposits, prepayments and other receivables 2,207 (2,443)
Decrease/(increase) in amount due from a related company 96 (121)
Decrease in accruals and other payables (334) (1,028)
(Decrease)/increase in trade deposits received (1,268) 568
Increase in contract liabilities 654 –
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables (1,306) 901

  

Cash used in operations (11,700) (15,915)
Income tax paid – –

  

Net cash used in operating activities (11,700) (15,915)
  

Investing activities
Interest received 35 7
Increase in pledged time deposits 22 (27) (2)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment – 426
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 15 (3,502) (1,439)

  

Net cash used in investing activities (3,494) (1,008)
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2019 2018
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Financing activities
Proceeds from bank borrowing 746 –
Repayment of bank borrowing (198) –
Repayment of debenture – (8,000)
Issue of share capital – 26,080
Payment of transaction cost on share placing – (1,044)
Interest paid 32 (1,312) (650)
Repayment of obligation under finance leases (115) (341)
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds 29 13,000 10,000
Payment of transaction cost on issue of convertible bonds 29 (417) (392)

  

Net cash generated from financing activities 11,704 25,653
  

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (3,490) 8,730

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 13,340 3,629

Effect of exchange rates on the balance of cash 
  held in foreign currencies (1,540) 981

  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 8,310 13,340
  

Analysis of the balance of cash and cash equivalents:
  Cash and bank balance 8,310 13,340

  

Note:

Major non-cash transaction

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group invested for 30% equity interests in Bluemount Group, which was settled by issue 6,000,000 

ordinary shares with share price HK$0.1 and deposit amounted to HK$200,000. Details of the acquisition are disclosed in Note 16.
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1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION

Echo International Holdings Group Limited was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in 
Cayman Islands on 21 December 2010 under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The addresses of the 
registered office is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman 
Islands and its principal place of business of the Company is Room 3207A, 32/F, Cable TV Tower, 9 Hoi Shing 
Road, Tsuen Wan, Hong Kong. The shares of the Company are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) 
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). Its ultimate controlling shareholder is Ms. 
Cheng Yeuk Hung (“Madam Cheng”).

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are 
engaged in the manufacturing and trading of electronic products and accessories. The consolidated financial 
statements are presents in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional currency of the 
Company. All values are rounded to nearest thousands (HK$’000) unless otherwise stated.

2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARD (“HKFRSs”)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year
In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new standards, amendments and interpretations (“new 
and amendments to HKFRSs”) (which included all HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and 
interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) that are relevant 
to its operations and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2018.

A summary of the new and amendments HKFRSs are set out as below:

Amendments to HKAS 28 Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2014–2016 Cycle
Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property
Amendments to HKFRS 1 Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2014–2016 Cycle
Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-Based Payment Transactions
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Clarifications to HKFRS 15)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

Except as described below, the application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had 
no material impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and prior periods and/or 
on the disclosures set out in the consolidated financial statements.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARD (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(a)	 Impact on the consolidated financial statements
The following tables show the adjustments recognised for each individual line item. Line items that were 
not affected by the application of new HKFRSs have not been included. As a result, the sub-totals and 
totals disclosed cannot be recalculated from the numbers provided. The adjustments are explained in more 
detail by standard below:

Consolidated statement of 31 March 1 April
financial position (extract) 2018 HKFRS 9 HKFRS 15 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Non-current asset
Deferred tax asset – 5 – 5

Current assets
Trade receivables 4,728 (28) – 4,700
Amount due from a related company 196 (1) – 195

Net current assets 34,014 (29) – 33,985

Current liabilities
Trade deposits received 1,268 – (1,268) –
Contract liabilities – – 1,268 1,268

Total assets less current liabilities 36,599 (24) – 36,575

Net assets 28,215 (24) – 28,191

Capital and reserves
Reserves 25,815 (24) – 25,791

Total equity 28,215 (24) – 28,191

(b)	 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Impact of adoption
In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the related consequential 
amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for (1) the classification and 
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities; (2) expected credit losses (“ECL”) for financial 
assets and (3) general hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. 
applied the classification and measurement requirements (including impairment under ECL model) 
retrospectively to instruments that have not been derecognised as at 1 April 2018 (date of initial 
application) and has not applied the requirements to instruments that have already been derecognised as 
at 1 April 2018. The difference between carrying amounts as at 31 March 2018 and the carrying amounts 
as at 1 April 2019 are recognised in the opening retained profits and other components of equity, without 
restating comparative information.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARD (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(b)	 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Impact of adoption (Continued)
Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be comparable as comparative information was 
prepared under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9 are disclosed in Note 3.

Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 9
(i)	 Classification and measurement

HKFRS 9 categories financial assets into three principal classification categories: measured at 
amortised cost, at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) and at fair value 
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). These supersede HKAS 39 ’s categories of held-to-maturity 
investments, loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets measured 
at FVTPL. The classification of financial assets under HKFRS 9 is based on the business model under 
which the financial assets is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics.

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into one of the following measurement 
categories:

•	 Amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of contractual cash flows which 
represent solely payments of principal and interest. Interest income from the investment is 
calculated using the effective interest method;

•	 FVTOCI — recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the investment comprise solely payments 
of principal and interest and the investment is held within a business model whose objective is 
achieved by both the collection of contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are 
recognised in other comprehensive income, except for the recognition in profit or loss of 
expected credit losses. When the investment is derecognized, the amount accumulated in 
other comprehensive income is recycled from equity to profit or loss; or

•	 FVTPL, if the investment does not meet the criteria for being measured at amortise cost or 
FVTOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value of the investment (including) interest are 
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARD (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(b)	 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Impact of adoption (Continued)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 9 (Continued)
(i)	 Classification and measurement (Continued)

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held for 
trading purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an election to 
designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are 
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on an instrument-by-
instrument basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the definition of equity from the 
issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other 
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is 
disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from 
an investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI (non-
recycling), are recognised in profit or loss as other income.

There is no impact on the Group’s accounting for financial liabilities. The Group accounts for the 
accruals, trade deposits received and other payables, borrowings and convertible bonds at financial 
liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or loss. The derecognition rules have been 
transferred from HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and have not been 
changed. The Group’s financial liabilities previously carried at amortised costs remained to be 
measured at amortised costs under HKFRS 9.

(ii)	 Impairment under ECL model
The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all 
trade receivables. Except for those which had been determined as credit impaired under HKAS 39, 
the remaining balances are grouped based on past due analysis. The Group has therefore estimated 
the expected loss rates for the trade receivables on the same basis.

Except for those which had been determined as credit impaired under HKAS 39, ECL for other 
financial assets at amortised cost, including amount due from a related company, other receivables, 
pledged bank deposits, cash and cash balances, are assessed on 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) basis 
as there had been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

The Group was required to revise its impairment methodology under HKFRS 9 for each of these 
classes of assets. The impact of the change in impairment methodology is as follow.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARD (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(b)	 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Impact of adoption (Continued)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 9 (Continued)
(ii)	 Impairment under ECL model (Continued)

Loss allowances of trade receivables and amount due from a related company as at 31 March 2018 
reconciled to the opening loss allowances as at 1 April 2018 are as follows:

Trade
receivables

Amount due
from a related

company
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

At 31 March 2018 — HKAS 39 690 –
Amounts re-measured through opening
  — accumulated losses 28 1

  

At 1 April 2018 — HKFRS 9 718 1
  

(c)	 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the related amendments
HKFRS 15 and its amendments replace HKAS 11 Construction Contracts, HKAS 18 Revenue and related 
interpretations and it applies, with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts with customers. 
HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers. 
Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in 
HKFRS 15 provide a more structured approach for measuring and recognising revenue. The standard also 
introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total 
revenue, information about performance obligations, changes in contract asset and liability account 
balances between periods and key judgements and estimates.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified retrospective method of adoption. Under this 
method, the standard can be applied either to all contracts at the date of initial application or only to 
contracts that are not completed at this date. The Group has elected to apply the standard to contracts 
that are not completed as at 1 April 2018.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARD (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(c)	 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the related amendments (Continued)
Set out below are the amounts by which each financial statement line item was affected as at 1 April 
2018 as a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15:

HKAS 18
carrying

amount as at
31 March

2018 Reclassification

HKFRS 15
carrying

amount as at
1 April

2018
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Trade deposits received (Note) 1,268 (1,268) –
Contract liabilities (Note) – 1,268 1,268

Note:	 As a result of the changes in the Group’s accounting policies, except for the reclassification of the contract liabilities from trade 

deposits received of approximately HK$1,268,000 at initial application, HKFRS 15 was generally adopted without restating any 

other comparative information. The adoption of HKFRS 15 in the current period does not result in any impact on the amounts 

reported in the consolidated financial statements and/or disclosures set out in the consolidated financial statements except that, 

the Group has adopted the following accounting policies on contract liabilities with effect from 1 April 2018 as stated in Note 26 

to consolidated financial statements.

New and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective
The Group has not applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not 
yet effective in the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material4

Amendments to HKAS 19 Employee Benefits1

Amendments to HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures1

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015–2017 Cycle2

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Business Combination4

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation1

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and 
  its Associate or Joint Venture3

HKFRS 16 Leases2

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts5

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments1

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
2	 Effective for business combination and asset acquisition for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual 

period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
3	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
4	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
5	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the directors of the Company (the 
“Directors”) anticipate that the application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material 
impact on the financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARD (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 Leases
HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and accounting 
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations 
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a 
customer. In addition, HKFRS 16 requires sales and leaseback transactions to be determined based on the 
requirements of HKFRS 15 as to whether the transfer of the relevant asset should be accounted as a sale. HKFRS 
16 also includes requirements relating to subleases and lease modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a 
model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees, 
except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain 
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease 
liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 
that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of 
lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification of cash flows, the Group currently presents upfront 
prepaid lease payments as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold lands for owned use and those classified 
as investment properties while other operating lease payments are presented as operating cash flows. Under the 
HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a principal and an interest portion 
which will be presented as financing cash flows by the Group.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

At 31 March 2019, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of approximately 
HK$11,287,000 as disclosed in Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements. A preliminary assessment 
indicates that these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the Group 
will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless they qualify 
for low value or short-term leases.

The application of new requirements may result in changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure as 
indicated above. The Group intends to elect the modified retrospective approach for the application of HKFRS 
16 as lessee and will recognise the cumulative effect of initial application to opening retained earnings without 
restating comparative information. Therefore, the Group will not reassess whether the contracts are, or contain 
a lease which already existed prior to the date of initial application.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs (which also include Hong 
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and interpretations) issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles 
generally accepted in Hong Kong, the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO”) 
and the applicable disclosure provisions of The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock 
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience 
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form 
the basis of making judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates is 
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated 
financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustments in the next year are discussed 
in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial 
instruments which are measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group 
takes into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for 
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing 
transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair 
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 
Impairment of Assets.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation (Continued)
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant 
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs 
is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial 
recognition the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based 
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the 
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

•	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
entity can access at the measurement date;

•	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
(including structured entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the 
Company:

•	 has power over the investee;

•	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

•	 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee 
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee 
unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s 
voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

•	 the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other 
vote holders;

•	 potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or other parties;

•	 rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

•	 any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the current 
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns 
at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and 
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control 
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and 
the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any 
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the 
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries (Continued)
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling 
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference 
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained 
interest; and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary 
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or 
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as 
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at 
the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under 
HKFRS 9/HKAS 39 or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a 
jointly venture.

Business combinations
Acquisitions of businesses, other than business combination under common control, are accounted for using 
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which 
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities 
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in 
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair 
value at the acquisition date, except that:

•	 deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are 
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits 
respectively;

•	 liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-
based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of 
the acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see 
the accounting policy below); and

•	 assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current 
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that standard.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the 
liabilities assumed. If, after assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if 
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share 
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling 
interests are measured at their fair value or another measurement basis required by another HKFRSs.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting 
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition date 
fair value and considered as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair 
value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted 
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments being made against goodwill. Measurement period 
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the “measurement period” 
(which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the 
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as 
measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent 
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent 
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is 
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised 
in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is 
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting 
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts 
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other 
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9/HKAS 39 would be accounted for on the same basis as 
would be required if the Group had disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is 
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the measurement period (see above), 
or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and 
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts 
recognised as of that date.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, 
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account. The financial statements of 
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until 
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised profits arising from 
intragroup transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised 
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the 
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Separate financial statements
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of 
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and 
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend from these 
investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend 
is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying 
amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an 
interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy 
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements 
using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held 
for sale, in which case it is or the portion so classified is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current 
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Any retained portion of an investment in an associate that 
has not been classified as held for sale continues to be accounted for using the equity method. The financial 
statements of an associate used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies 
as those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, 
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and 
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the 
an associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When 
the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any 
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group 
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the 
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee 
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment 
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised 
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of 
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in an associate may be impaired. 
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested 
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of 
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms 
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance 
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments in associates (Continued)
When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the 
entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group 
retains an interest in the former associate and the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 
9/HKAS 39, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as 
its fair value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of the or joint venture and the 
fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the associate is 
included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts 
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same 
basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if 
a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to 
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity 
to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a 
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate. There is no 
remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but the Group continues to use the equity 
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been 
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss 
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions 
with the associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests 
in the associate that are not related to the Group.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions 
in Note 2)
Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 
“control” of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the 
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a 
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards 
complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

•	 The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as 
the Group performs;

•	 The Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group 
performs; or

•	 The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group 
has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct goods or 
services.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the Group 
has transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance with 
HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the 
passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the 
Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract are accounted for an presented on a net basis.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions 
in Note 2) (Continued)
(i)	 Sales of goods

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at the point in time when goods are delivered to customers 
generally on the time the related risks and rewards of ownership has transferred.

(ii)	 Subcontracting income
Revenue from the provision of subcontracting service is recognised at the point in time when the services 
are provided.

(iii)	 Interest income
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset except for financial assets that subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired 
financial assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after 
deduction of the loss allowance). Interest income is presented as “interest income” where it is mainly 
earned from financial assets that are held for cash management purposes.

(iv)	 Revenue from restaurants operations
The Group recognises revenue from restaurants operations which provides catering services. Revenue from 
restaurants operations is recognised at a point in time when the services are rendered. A receivable is 
recognised by the Group when the services are rendered to the customers at which the right to 
consideration becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is required before payment is due.

Revenue recognition (before application of HKFRS 15 on 1 April 2018)
Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if 
applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income as follows:

(i)	 Sales of goods
Revenue is recognised when goods are recognised on the transfer of risks and rewards of ownership, 
which generally considers with the time when goods are delivered to customers and title has passed. 
Revenue is recognised after deduction of any trade discounts.

(ii)	 Subcontracting income
Revenue from the provision of subcontracting service is recognised when the service are provided.

(iii)	 Interest income
Interest income from bank deposits is accrued on a timing basis, by reference to the principal outstanding 
and at the interest rate applicable.

(iv)	 Service income
Revenue from restaurant operations is recognised when catering services have been provided to the 
customers.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee
Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception 
of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the 
lessor is included in the consolidated statements of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to 
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognized 
immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are 
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs (see the accounting policy below). 
Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except 
where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the 
leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in 
which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a 
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line 
basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Foreign currencies
The functional currency of the Company and its Hong Kong subsidiaries are HK$. The functional currency of the 
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) subsidiary is Renminbi (“RMB”). The consolidated financial statements is 
presented in HK$ which is the Group’s presentation currency. This is also the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the Group operates. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and 
items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of each individual Group entities, transactions in currencies 
other than that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the exchange rates prevailing on the dates 
of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items, are 
recognised in profit or loss in the reporting period in which they arise, except for:

•	 exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future 
productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to 
interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings;

•	 exchange difference on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

•	 exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which 
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the 
foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from 
equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the asset and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing 
at the end of the reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for 
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at 
the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of foreign translation reserve (attributable 
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a 
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of 
joint control over a jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of 
significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences 
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to 
profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that does not result 
in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences is 
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and is not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. 
partial disposal of associates or jointly controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing significant 
influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to 
profit or loss.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)
Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identifiable assets acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign 
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange 
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in entity under the 
heading of exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, leave passage and the cost to the Group of non-monetary benefits 
are accrued in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group. Where payment or 
settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF 
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to 
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries 
and are charged to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income as they become payable in 
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

As stipulated by the rules and regulations of the PRC, the Company’s subsidiary registered in the PRC are 
required to contribute to a state-sponsored retirement plan for all its PRC employees at certain percentages of 
the basic salaries predetermined by the local governments. The state-sponsored retirement plan is responsible 
for the entire retirement benefit obligations payable to retired employees and the Group has no further 
obligations for the actual retirement benefit payments or other post-retirement benefits beyond the annual 
contributions.

The costs of employee retirements are recognised as expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive 
income in the period in which they are incurred.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand 
and demand deposits which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired, 
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form in integral part of the Group’s cash 
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
on hand and at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted to use.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year end. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before 
tax as reported in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income because of items of income or expense 
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability 
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits 
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition 
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the 
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal 
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and 
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against 
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable 
future.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019

Annual Report 2019 86

3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset 
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which 
the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount 
of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively when current tax or deferred tax 
arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the 
business combination.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised in the consolidated statements of financial position so as to write off the cost of 
assets less their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement 
of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit and loss.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 3–4 years
Computer equipment 3–4 years
Motor vehicles 3–4 years
Mould 3–4 years
Plant and machinery 3–4 years

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned 
assets.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting date.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the different between the net sales proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is computed using 
the weighted average basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, includes expenditure 
incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them 
to their existing location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price for inventories less the estimated costs of completion and costs 
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in which the 
related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses 
of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any 
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognized 
as an expense in which the reversal occurs.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal and constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each of reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 
Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value of the 
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligations.

Convertible bonds
Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain both the liability, conversion option and redemption options 
components are classified separately into respective items on initial recognition in accordance with the substance 
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability, an equity instrument and embedded 
derivative. Conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial 
asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is classified as an equity instrument. A 
redemption option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset is a 
redemption option derivative.

At the date of issue, both the liability component and redemption option derivative are recognised at fair value. 
In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. The redemption option derivative is measured at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognised in profit or loss.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined by deducting the amount of the liability component and 
redemption option components from the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised 
and included in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the 
conversion option classified as equity will remain in equity until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, 
the balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share premium. When the conversion option remains 
unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible bonds, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred 
to retained profits. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the conversion 
option.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Convertible bonds (Continued)
Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible bonds are allocated to the liability, equity and 
redemption option components in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating 
to the equity component are charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component are 
included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised over the period of the convertible bonds 
using the effective interest method.

Note:	 Convertible bonds issued by the Group are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. Transaction costs are 

included in the carrying amount of the convertible bonds and amortised over the period of the convertible bonds using the effective 

interest method.

Financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and 
derecognised on trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that 
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising from 
contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 since 1 April 2018. 
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities 
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted 
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction 
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial 
liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points 
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter 
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019

Annual Report 2019 90

3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with 
transitions in Note 2)
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

•	 the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

•	 the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

•	 the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling; and

•	 the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/initial 
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of 
an equity investment in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) if that equity investment is neither held for trading 
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business 
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

•	 it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

•	 on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•	 it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be measured at the 
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with 
transitions in Note 2) (Continued)
(i)	 Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured 
subsequently at amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. For 
financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is 
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except 
for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that 
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest 
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the 
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, 
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the 
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is no 
longer credit impaired.

(ii)	 Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI
Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt instruments/receivables classified as at FVTOCI as a 
result of interest income calculated using the effective interest method, and foreign exchange gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss. All other changes in the carrying amount of these debt instruments 
are recognised in OCI and accumulated under the heading of revaluation reserve. Impairment allowances 
are recognised in profit or loss with corresponding adjustment to OCI without reducing the carrying 
amounts of these debt instruments. The amounts that are recognised in profit or loss are the same as the 
amounts that would have been recognised in profit or loss if these debt instruments had been measured 
at amortised cost. When these debt instruments are derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

(iii)	 Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI
Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses 
arising from changes in fair value recognised in OCI and accumulated in the revaluation reserve; and are 
not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss 
on disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred to retained profits/will continue to be held in 
the revaluation reserve.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s 
right to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the 
cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other gains or loss, net” line item in profit or loss.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with 
transitions in Note 2) (Continued)
(iv)	 Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or 
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value 
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other gains or loss, net” line item.

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with transitions in accordance with Note 2)
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit loss (the “ECL”) on financial assets which are subject 
to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade receivables, amount due from a related company, other 
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to 
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the 
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result 
from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on 
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general 
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the 
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually 
and/or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with transitions in accordance with Note 2) 
(Continued)
For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or 
risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)	 Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares 
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this 
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and 
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without 
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has 
increased significantly:

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 
internal credit rating;

•	 significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the 
credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

•	 existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected 
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

•	 an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its 
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 90 days past 
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with transitions in accordance with Note 2) 
(Continued)
(ii)	 Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when information 
developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its 
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is over 180 
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more 
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii)	 Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a detrimental impact on 
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is 
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a)	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)	 a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)	 the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s 
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not 
otherwise consider;

(d)	 it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)	 the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv)	 Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in 
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty 
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off 
may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account 
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries 
are recognised in profit or loss.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019

Echo International Holdings Group Limited95

3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with transitions in accordance with Note 2) 
(Continued)
(v)	 Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude 
of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default 
and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of 
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of 
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the 
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where evidence at the individual instrument 
level may not yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the following basis:

•	 Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade receivables and deposits and other receivables 
are each assessed as a separate group. Loans to related parties are assessed for expected credit 
losses on an individual basis);

•	 Past-due status;

•	 Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

•	 External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue to 
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial 
asset is credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the 
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting 
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables where the corresponding adjustment is 
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)
The Group’s financial assets are classified into financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), 
loans and receivables. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on 
a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery 
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place.

(i)	 Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral 
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the 
expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount 
on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on effective basis for debt instruments.

(ii)	 Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is held for trading.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

(a)	 it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

(b)	 on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group 
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

(c)	 it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement 
recognized in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or 
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “net loss on financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss” line item. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 21 and 29.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)
(i)	 Financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each 
reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as 
a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimate 
future cash flows of the investment have been affected.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

•	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

•	 breach of contracts, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal	payments; or

•	 it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation; or

•	 the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be 
impaired individually are assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment 
for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase 
in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period of within 90 days, as 
well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on 
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted 
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed 
in subsequent periods.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018) (Continued)
(i)	 Financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets 
with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the 
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the 
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or 
loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that 
the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the 
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

(ii)	 Other assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If 
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an 
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are 
also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of 
cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for 
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018) (Continued)
(ii)	 Other assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried 
at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating 
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss 
been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which 
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. Loan and receivables (including trade receivables, amount due from a related 
company, other receivables, pledged time deposits and cash and bank balances) are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments issued by a Group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an 
equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities (including trade payables, debentures, convertible bonds other payables, bank 
overdrafts, borrowings and obligation under finance leases) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest method.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 
allocating interest expenses over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments (including all fees or points paid or received that form an integral part of the 
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense as recognised on an effective interest basis.

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset expire, or when financial 
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
financial asset to another entity. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that 
had been recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit 
or loss.

Financial liabilities are removed from the Group’s consolidated statements of financial position when the 
obligations specified in the relevant contract are discharged cancelled or expired. The difference between the 
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in 
profit or loss.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties transactions
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(1)	 A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i)	 has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)	 has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)	 is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(2)	 An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)	 the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary 
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(ii)	 one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 
member of a group of which the other entity is a member);

(iii)	 both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv)	 one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)	 the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an 
entity related to the Group;

(vi)	 the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (1);

(vii)	 a person identified (1)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii)	 the entity, or any member of a group is a part, provides key management personnel services to the 
group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between reporting entity and a 
related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated financial statements, 
are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s executive directors, being the 
chief operating decision maker, for the purpose of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, 
the Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the segments 
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the nature 
of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide 
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually 
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be 
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the 
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because 
it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be 
measured reliably. A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they 
will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by 
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
Group. A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements 
when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019

Echo International Holdings Group Limited103

3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Share-based payment arrangements
For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of 
services received is determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted at the date of grant and is 
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options 
reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected 
to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such 
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share options 
reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is 
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred 
to share premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry 
date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.

4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, management is required to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations, that the directors have made in 
the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

(a)	 Net realisable value of inventories
Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
estimated costs of completion and distribution expenses. These estimates are based on the current market 
condition and historical experience of selling products of similar nature. It could change significantly as a 
result of competitor actions in response to severe industry cycles. Management reassesses these 
estimations at the end of the reporting period to ensure inventories are shown at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value.

(b)	 Provision of ECL for trade receivables and amount due from a related company
The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade receivables. The provision rates are based 
on internal credit ratings as groupings of various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The provision 
matrix is based on the Group’s historical default rates taking into consideration forward-looking 
information that is reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At each of the 
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking 
information are considered. In addition, trade receivables and amount due from a related company with 
significant balances and credit impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about the ECL and the Group’s 
trade receivables and amount due from a related company are disclosed in Note 36.

(c)	 Income taxes
Determining income tax provisions involve judgment on the future tax treatment of certain transactions. 
The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions and tax provisions are set up accordingly. 
The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into account all changes in tax 
legislations. Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses not yet used and temporary deductible 
differences. As those deferred tax assets can only be recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax credits can be utilised, management’s 
judgment is required to assess the probability of future taxable profits. Management’s assessment is 
constantly reviewed and additional deferred tax assets are recognised if it becomes probable that future 
taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

(d)	 Impairment test for interests in associates
The Group completed its annual impairment test for interests in associates by comparing the recoverable 
amount of interests in associates to its carrying amount as at 31 March 2019. The Group has engaged the 
independent professional external valuer to carry out a valuation of the interests in associates as at 31 
March 2019 based on the value in use calculations. This valuation uses cash flow projections based on 
financial estimates covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of approximately 12.67% 
(2018: N/A). The cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a steady 2.5% (2018: N/A) 
growth rate for the brokerage and money lending industries in which are operated by associates.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019

Echo International Holdings Group Limited105

4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

(e)	 Carrying value of financial instruments not quoted in an active market
As at 31 March 2019, the carrying value of the Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
determined by valuation technique as these financial instruments do not have a quoted market price. The 
Directors use their judgments in selecting an appropriate valuation technique. Valuation techniques 
commonly used by the market practitioners are applied. In determining the carrying value of these 
instruments, assumptions are made based on currently available market data adjusted for specific features 
of these instruments.

(f)	 Determination of fair values of identifiable assets in relation to acquisition of associates
The associates’ identifiable assets and liabilities acquired had to be measured at their respective fair values 
as at the date of acquisition. The difference between the cost of acquisition and the Group share of the 
associates’ net assets fair value at date of acquisition should be recognised as goodwill in the interests in 
associates at statement of financial position or recognised as gain on bargain purchase at the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. In the absence of an active market for the 
acquisition transactions undertaken by the Group, in order to determine the fair values of associates’ 
assets and liabilities acquired, the Directors had made their estimates according to the valuation results 
produced by independent professional external valuers. During year ended 31 March 2019, the fair value 
of identifiable intangible assets, net of tax, arising from the acquisition of Bluemount Financial Group 
Limited (“Bluemount Financial”) is approximately HK$20,010,000, gain on bargain purchase of 
approximately HK$11,241,000 was recognised as result of the acquisition. Details of the acquisition are 
disclosed in Note 16.

(g)	 Share-based payment
For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value 
of services received is determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date 
and is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity 
(share option reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are 
expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in 
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding 
adjustment to share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be 
transferred to share premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not 
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred 
to retained earnings.
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5.	 REVENUE

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and trading of electronic products and accessories and 
provision of food catering services. The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised during the 
year is as follows:

Revenue from contract with customers:

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Recognition at a point in time:
  — Sale of electronic products 39,830 37,609
  — Subcontracting income – 227
  — Revenue from restaurant operations 12,987 488

  

52,817 38,324
  

6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported internally to the directors of the Group (chief operating decision maker) for the purpose of 
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on types of goods or services delivered or 
provided.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

•	 trading of electronic products;

•	 manufacturing and trading of electronic products and accessories and subcontracting income; and

•	 provision of food catering services.

The Group reportable segments are strategic business units that operate different activities. They are managed 
separately because each business has different market and requires different marketing strategies.

Segment revenues reported below represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no 
intersegment sales for both years.

Segment result represents the profit/(loss) generated by each segment without allocation of corporate income 
and central administration costs including directors’ emoluments, share based payment, finance costs and 
income tax expense. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of 
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment revenues and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s turnover and results from continuing separations by reportable and 
operating segments:

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Manufacturing
and trading of

electronic
products and

Trading accessories and Provision of
of electronic subcontracting food catering

products income services Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Revenue 2,759 37,071 12,987 52,817
    

Segment results 541 (1,881) (4,278) (5,618)
   

Unallocated other revenue and gains 6,670
Unallocated selling and distribution expenses (626)
Unallocated administrative and other expenses (7,713)

 

Loss from operations (7,287)
Finance costs (2,043)
Allowance for expected credit loss recognised 
  in respect of trade receivables and 
  amount due from a related company (82)
Share of result of associates 14,721

 

Profit before taxation 5,309
Taxation (37)

 

Profit for the year 5,272
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018

Manufacturing
and trading of

electronic
products and

Trading accessories and Provision of
of electronic subcontracting food catering

products income services Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Revenue 3,999 33,837 488 38,324
    

Segment results 1,488 (8,105) (878) (7,495)
   

Unallocated other revenue and gains 732
Unallocated selling and distribution expenses (708)
Unallocated administrative and other expenses (6,495)

 

Loss from operations (13,966)
Finance costs (720)

 

Loss before taxation (14,686)
Taxation (30)

 

Loss for the year (14,716)
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities
As at 31 March 2019

Manufacturing
and trading of

electronic
products and

Trading accessories and Provision of
of electronic subcontracting food catering

products income services Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Segment assets 1,496 15,041 3,740 20,277
Unallocated corporate assets 45,259

 

Consolidated assets 65,536
 

Segment liabilities 328 2,619 – 2,947
Unallocated corporate liabilities 21,631

 

Consolidated liabilities 24,578
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
As at 31 March 2018

Manufacturing
and trading of

electronic
products and

Trading accessories and Provision of
of electronic subcontracting food catering

products income services Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Segment assets 603 17,697 1,425 19,725
Unallocated corporate assets 24,517

 

Consolidated assets 44,242
 

Segment liabilities 456 4,479 146 5,081
Unallocated corporate liabilities 10,946

 

Consolidated liabilities 16,027
 

For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and allocating resources between segments:

•	 all assets are allocated to operating segments other than unallocated corporate assets (mainly comprising  
interests in associates, certain of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, amount due from a 
related company, deposits, payments and other receivables); and

•	 all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than unallocated corporate liabilities (mainly 
comprising certain of bank borrowings, obligations under finance leases, accruals and other payables).
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 March 2019

Manufacturing
and trading of

electronic
products and

Trading accessories and Provision of
of electronic subcontracting food catering

Products income services Unallocated Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Amount included in the measure 
  of segment results
Capital expenditure – 749 2,712 41 3,502
Depreciation of property, 
  plant and equipment – 435 709 125 1,269

     

For the year ended 31 March 2018

Manufacturing
and trading of

electronic
products and

Trading accessories and Provision of
of electronic subcontracting food catering

Products income services Unallocated Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Amount included in the measure 
  of segment results
Capital expenditure – 15 1,436 600 2,051
Depreciation of property, 
  plant and equipment – 306 68 70 444
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Other segment information (Continued)
Amounts regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker but not included in the measure of segment 
results of segments assets:

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Manufacturing
and trading of

electronic
products and

Trading accessories and Provision of
of electronic subcontracting food catering

Products income services Unallocated Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Interest income – 3 – 32 35
Finance costs – 33 – 2,010 2,043

     

For the year ended 31 March 2018

Manufacturing
and trading of

electronic
products and

Trading accessories and Provision of
of electronic subcontracting food catering

Products income services Unallocated Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Interest income – 1 – 6 7
Finance costs – – – 720 720
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Revenue from major products and services
The Group’s revenue from its major products and services are as follows:

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Security alarm 678 579
Hair remover 646 538
Buzzer 4,812 5,695
Massage toner 5 87
Fishing indicator 14,500 15,984
Charger board 5,304 540
Control board 8,903 8,526
Fire alarm 707 590
Communicator – 546
Others 1,516 525

  

Manufacturing and trading of electronic products 37,071 33,610
Trading of electronic products 2,759 3,999
Subcontracting income – 227
Revenue from restaurants operation 12,987 488

  

52,817 38,324
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Geographical information
The Group operates in two principal geographical areas — manufacturing in the PRC and trading business in 
Hong Kong.

The Group’s geographical segments are classified according to the location of customers. There are four 
customer-based geographical segments. Segment revenue from external customers by the location of customer 
is as follows:

Revenue from
external customers

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Hong Kong 16,333 4,200
Asian Countries, other than Hong Kong (Note (a)) 5,561 5,089
European Countries (Note (b)) 22,953 22,711
North and South American Countries (Note (c)) 6,882 5,766
Others 1,088 558

  

52,817 38,324
  

Notes:

(a)	 Asian countries include the PRC, India, Korea, Malaysia, Singapore, Taiwan and Thailand.

(b)	 European countries include Belgium, Bulgaria, Denmark, Finland, Germany, Italy, Poland, Portugal, Russia, Slovakia, Spain, Sweden, 

Switzerland and United Kingdom.

(c)	 North and South American countries include Argentina, Brasil, Canada and the United States.
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Geographical information (Continued)
The Group’s geographical segments are also classified by the location of assets, information about its non-
current assets by geographical location are set out below:

Additions to
Non-current assets Non-current assets

2019 2018 2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Hong Kong 3,052 2,051 4,712 2,528
PRC – – 105 57

    

3,052 2,051 4,817 2,585
    

Information about major customers
For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group’s customer base includes one customers relate to manufacturing 
and trading of electronic products operating segment (2018: two customers) with whom transactions have 
individually exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue. No other single customer contributed 10% or more to the 
Group’s revenue for both years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

Revenue from major customers, amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue is set out below:

Revenue from 
external customers

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Customer A 14,500 15,996
Customer B (Note) – 3,860

  

14,500 19,856
  

Note:

No information on revenue for the current year is disclosed for these customers since they did not contribute 10% or more to the Group’s 

revenue for the year ended 31 March 2019.
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7.	 OTHER GAINS OR LOSS, NET

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Bank interest income 35 7
Net foreign exchange gain – 136
Sundry income 956 1,009
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 210
Rental income 306 –
Change in fair value of derivative financial asset component 
  of convertible bonds (Note 29) 5,562 (294)

  

6,859 1,068
  

8.	 FINANCE COSTS

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Interest on:
  — Debenture wholly repayable within one year – 483
  — Convertible bonds wholly repayable within five years (Note 29) 1,989 200
  — Bank overdrafts wholly repayable within five years – 4
  — Bank borrowing 33 –
  — Obligation under finance lease 21 33

  

2,043 720
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9.	 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Profit/(loss) before taxation is arrive after charging:
Staff costs including directors’ remuneration 22,750 19,698
Contribution to retirement schemes 1,174 850
Share based payment expenses – –

  

Total staff costs 23,924 20,548
  

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 1,269 444
Auditors’ remuneration
  — Audit services 530 450
  — Non-audit services 7 7
Cost of inventories sold 35,337 28,679
Inventories write down (Note (a)) – 832
Operating lease rental expenses 5,067 3,518
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) 982 (136)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment – (210)
Allowance for expected credit loss/impairment loss recognised 
  in respect of trade receivables, net of reversal 81 690
Allowance for expected credit loss recognised
  in respect of amount due from a related company 1 –

  

Note:

(a)	 The amount is included in administrative expenses.
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10.	 TAXATION

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Current tax
  — Hong Kong 171 41
Deferred taxation (Note 30) (134) (11)

  

37 30
  

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 
2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 
March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first 
HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will 
be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will 
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, starting from the current year, the Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 
million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the 
year ended 31 March 2018.

PRC subsidiary is subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at 25%. No provision the PRC Enterprise Income Tax has 
been made as the subsidiary incorporated in the PRC had no assessable profits arising in the PRC for the year 
ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group is 
not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI for the year ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in 
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

The Group has tax losses of approximately HK$7,048,000 (2018: HK$3,762,000) which are available indefinitely 
for affecting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose and deferred tax assets 
have not been recognised in respect of these losses because in the opinion of the Directors, it is not considered 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.
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10.	 TAXATION (CONTINUED)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit/(loss) before taxation per the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Profit/(loss) before taxation 5,309 (14,686)
  

Tax at the applicable tax rate 632 (2,995)
Tax effect of non-deductible expense for tax purpose 472 93
Unrecognised temporary difference (15) 69
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 1,911 3,022
Income tax at concessionary rate (165) –
Tax reduction for the year (20) –
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (2,778) (159)

  

37 30
  

11.	 DIVIDENDS

The board of directors did not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 March 2019 
(2018: Nil).
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12.	 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share attributable to the owners of the Company is based 
on the following data:

2019 2018
Basic earnings/(loss) per share HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Profit/(loss)
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company for the purpose 
  of calculating basic earnings/(loss) per share 5,272 (14,716)

  

2019 2018
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Earnings/(loss) used in the calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share 5,272 (14,716)
Imputed interest on convertible bonds, net of tax 1,660 –
Fair value gain arising from convertible bonds (5,562) –

  

Earnings/(loss) used in the calculation of diluted earnings/(loss) per share 1,370 (14,716)
  

2019 2018
   

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose 
  of calculating basic earnings per share 986,136,986 912,219,178

  

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
  — Conversion of convertible bonds 126,026,348 –

  

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose 
  of calculating diluted earnings per share 1,112,163,334 912,219,178

  

Earnings/(loss) per share
  — Basic (in HK cents) 0.5 (1.6)
  — Diluted (in HK cents) 0.1 (1.6)
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12.	 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

Basic earnings/(loss) per share for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 are calculated by dividing the profit 
or loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of shares in issue 
during the year.

Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2019 are calculated by adjusting the weighted 
average number of shares in issue during the year to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
The weighted average number of ordinary shares as above are adjusted by the number of shares that would 
have been issued assuming the conversion of convertible bonds.

The diluted loss per share is the same as the basic loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2018 because the 
Company’s share options and convertible bonds outstanding during these years were anti-dilutive.

13.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS

The aggregate amounts of emoluments paid by the Group to the directors and the chief executive officer of the 
Company during the year are as follows:

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Directors’ fees 1,082 1,031
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,456 3,063
Discretionary bonus 100 138
Retirement scheme contributions 44 57
Share based payment expenses – –

  

3,682 4,289
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13.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Details for the emoluments of each director of the Company during the year are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Salaries
allowance Retirement

Share base Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme
payment fee in kind bonus contribution Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Executive directors:
Mr. Lo Yan Yee (Chairman) – 135 600 40 – 775
Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung 
  (“Madam Cheng”) – 135 600 40 18 793
Ms. Zhou Jia Lin (Note (b)) – 52 296 – 8 356
Mr. Leung Kwok Kuen, Jacob (Note (d)) – 135 720 – 18 873
Mr. Tansri Saridju Benui (Note (f)) – 85 – – – 85

Non-executive director:
Mr. Chan Chun Kit – 135 – – – 135

Independent non-executive 
  directors:
Ms. Zhou Ying (Note (e)) – 135 – – – 135
Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus (Note (g)) – 135 – – – 135
Mr. Lam Wai Yuen – 135 – – – 135

Chief-executive officer:
Mr. Cheng Kwing Sang – – 240 20 – 260

      

– 1,082 2,456 100 44 3,682
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13.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2018

Salaries
allowance Retirement

Share base Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme
payment fee in kind bonus contribution Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Executive directors:
Mr. Lo Yan Yee (Chairman) – 120 600 40 – 760
Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung 
  (“Madam Cheng”) – 120 600 40 18 778
Ms. Zhou Jia Lin (Note (b)) – 120 674 – 17 811
Mr. Leung Kwok Kuen, Jacob (Note (d)) – 120 434 – 11 565
Mr. Lo Ding To (Note (a)) – 70 245 18 11 344

Non-executive director:
Mr. Chan Chun Kit – 120 – – – 120

Independent non-executive 
  directors:
Ms. Zhou Ying (Note (e)) – 71 – – – 71
Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus (Note (g)) – 120 – – – 120
Mr. Lam Wai Yuen – 120 – – – 120
Mr. Ang Chuk Pai (Note (c)) – 50 – – – 50

Chief-executive officer:
Mr. Cheng Kwing Sang – – 510 40 – 550

      

– 1,031 3,063 138 57 4,289
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13.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)	 Mr. Lo Ding To has resigned as an executive director on 1 November 2017.

(b)	 Ms. Zhou Jia Lin has redesignated as an executive director on 9 May 2017 and resigned on 7 September 2018.

(c)	 Mr. Ang Chuk Pai has resigned as an independent non-executive director on 29 August 2017.

(d)	 Mr. Leung Kwok Kuen, Jacob has been redesignated as an executive director on 25 August 2017.

(e)	 Ms. Zhou Ying has been appointed as an independent non-executive director on 29 August 2017.

(f)	 Mr. Tansri Saridju Benui has been appointed as an executive director on 7 September 2018.

(g)	 Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus has been resigned as an independent non-executive director on 30 April 2019.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, there were no amounts paid during the year to the directors in connection 
with their retirement from employment with the Group, or inducement to join (2018: Nil). There was no 
arrangement under which the directors and chief executive officer waived or agreed to waive any remuneration 
during the year (2018: Nil). During the year ended 31 March 2019, none of the directors and chief executive 
officer has share options under the share option scheme operated by the Company (2018: Nil).
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14.	 EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a)	 Five highest paid individual
The five highest paid individuals during the year are three directors (2018: three) with their emoluments 
disclosed in Note 13.

The detail of the emoluments of the remaining two (2018: two) highest paid individuals are as follows:

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Salaries, allowances and other benefits 1,375 1,292
Retirement schemes contributions 36 36

  

1,411 1,328
  

The emoluments of the two (2018: two) individuals with the highest emoluments are fell within the 
following band:

Number of individuals
2019 2018

   

Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 2
  

(b)	 Senior Management of the Company
The emoluments of the senior management other than the highest paid individuals of the Group are 
within the following band:

Number of individuals
2019 2018

   

Nil to HK$1,000,000 8 9
  

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or any of the five highest paid 
employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None 
of the directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year.
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15.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold Furniture Office Computer Motor Plant and
Improvements & fixtures equipment equipment vehicles Mould machinery Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
         

Cost
As at 1 April 2017 3,189 229 1,637 879 1,072 32 4,509 11,547
Additions 1,259 187 18 29 558 – – 2,051
Written off on disposal (256) (2) – – (552) – – (810)
Exchange realignment – – 18 – 29 – 171 218        

As at 31 March 2018 
  and 1 April 2018 4,192 414 1,673 908 1,107 32 4,680 13,006
Additions 2,004 708 32 12 746 – – 3,502
Exchange realignment – – (4) – (20) – (112) (136)        

As at 31 March 2019 6,196 1,122 1,701 920 1,833 32 4,568 16,372
        

Accumulated depreciation
As at 1 April 2017 2,313 211 1,571 841 892 32 4,509 10,369
Provided for the year 240 10 40 29 125 – – 444
Written off on disposal (42) – – – (552) – – (594)
Exchange realignment – – 16 – 15 – 171 202

        

As at 31 March 2018 
  and 1 April 2018 2,511 221 1,627 870 480 32 4,680 10,421
Provided for the year 733 150 26 16 344 – – 1,269
Exchange realignment – – (11) – (12) – (112) (135)

        

As at 31 March 2019 3,244 371 1,642 886 812 32 4,568 11,555
        

Carrying amount
As at 31 March 2019 2,952 751 59 34 1,021 – – 4,817

        

As at 31 March 2018 1,681 193 46 38 627 – – 2,585
        

Note:	 The carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment which was held under finance lease as at 31 March 2019 and 2018 

were approximately HK$391,000 and HK$502,000 respectively (Note 28).

As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amount of motor vehicle which have been pledged to secure bank borrowing of the Group was 

approximately HK$541,000 (2018: Nil) (Note 27).



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019

Echo International Holdings Group Limited127

16.	 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

On 24 October 2018, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the “Acquisition 
Agreement”) with an independent third party (the “Vendor”) pursuant to which the Vendor had conditionally 
agreed to sell and the Company has conditionally agreed to purchase 6,903,090 ordinary share at the market 
price of HK$0.1 each in Bluemount Group, representing 30% of the entire equity interest of Bluemount Group 
at a consideration of HK$11,000,000, which was satisfied by cash amounted to HK$200,000 and the Company 
issuing consideration shares in the sum of HK$10,800,000 to the Vendor. At the date of acquisition, the fair 
value of consideration shares was HK$6,000,000 (Note 31) and total fair value of consideration paid was 
HK$6,200,000. Upon completion of this transaction, the Company held a 30% equity interest in Bluemount 
Group and exercised significant influence over Bluemount Group, and therefore Bluemount Group and its 
subsidiaries are classified as associates of the Company.

2019
HK$’000

  

Unlisted
Cost of investment in associates 6,200
Share of result of associates (Note (a)) 14,721

 

20,921
 

Details of each of the Group’s associates at the end of the reporting period are as follow:

Country of
incorporation/ Paid-up
registration/ capital or
Principle place registered Proportion of ownership interest and voting

power attributable to the Company
Principal Type of

Name of associates business capital activities legal entity
Direct Indirect

2019 2018 2019 2018
         

Bluemount Financial Hong Kong HK$23,010,300 30% – – – Investment Limited liability
  holding   company

Bluemount Securities Limited Hong Kong HK$18,000,000 – – 30% – Brokerage Limited liability
  services   company

Bluemount Asset Management Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 – – 30% – Portfolio and Limited liability
  Limited   investment   company

  management 
  service

Bluemount Credit Limited Hong Kong HK$100 – – 30% – Money lending Limited liability 
  company

Bluemount Capital Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 – – 30% – Dormant Limited liability 
  company

Bluemount Commodities Limited Hong Kong HK$100 – – 30% – Dormant Limited liability 
  company
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16.	 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Summary financial information of Bluemount Group
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associates are set out below. The summarised 
financial information below represents amounts shown in Bluemount Group’s consolidated financial statements 
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

2019
HK$’000

  

Current assets 130,483
Non-current assets 1,282
Current liabilities (63,040)
Non-current liabilities (19,000)
Equity 49,725

 

2019
HK$’000

  

Revenue 21,848
Profit and total comprehensive income for the period 11,600
Dividends received from associate during the period –

 

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in 
Bluemount Group recognised in these consolidated financial statements:

2019
HK$’000

  

Net assets of Bluemount Group 49,725
Fair value adjustment, net of tax (Note (b)) 20,010

 

Net assets of Bluemount Group after adjusting for fair value adjustment at the date
  of acquisition 69,735
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest 30%

 

The Group’s share of net assets of Bluemount Group 20,921
 

Notes:

(a)	 On completion of the acquisition of the shares in Bluemount Group, the reasons of fair value of net assets acquired as of the acquisition 

date exceeded the fair value of the consideration transferred, were mainly due to (1) adoption of marketability discount and minority 

discount in determining the purchase consideration and (2) issue price of consideration shares was lower than the contract issue price at 

acquisition date . Accordingly, the Group recognised a gain on bargain purchase of HK$11,241,000 which was the exceed of fair value 

of associates’ net identifiable assets acquired to the fair value of consideration paid in the line item “Share of result of associates” in the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

(b)	 As at 24 October 2018, the fair value adjustment, net of tax, of interests in associates of approximately HK$20,010,000. The fair value 

adjustment of associates net identifiable assets was, valued by an independent professional external valuer, based on currently available 

market data adjusted for specific features of interests in associates.
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17.	 INVENTORIES

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Raw materials 8,982 6,298
Work-in-progress 1,929 5,832
Finished goods 1,714 1,171

  

12,625 13,301
  

18.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trade receivables 4,725 5,418
Less: allowances for expected credit loss/allowances for doubtful debts
  (Note 36) (109) (690)

  

4,616 4,728
  

The following is an analysis of trade receivables by age, presented based on the invoice date. The analysis below 
is net of allowance for expected credit loss/for doubtful debts:

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

0 to 30 days 2,783 2,813
31 to 60 days 644 1,528
61 to 90 days 24 322
91 to 180 days 1,165 65

  

4,616 4,728
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18.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The average credit period on sales of goods ranges from 0 to 90 days. In view of the fact that the Group’s trade 
receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. 
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing.

The trade receivables are denominated in HK$, United States Dollars (“US$”) and RMB.

Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts which are past due at the end of the reporting period for 
which the Group has not recognised an allowance for doubtful receivables because there was no significant 
change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral 
or other credit enhancements over these balances nor does it have a legal right of offset against any amounts 
owed by the Group to the counterparty.

Aging of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired.

As at
31 March

2018
Overdue by: HK$’000
  

0 to 30 days 507
31 to 60 days 229
61 to 90 days 34
91 to 180 days 31
Over 180 days –

 

801
 

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a number of independent customers that have a 
good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment 
allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there was no significant change in credit quality and the 
balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk and assessment for expected credit loss arising from 
trade receivables are set out in Note 36.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019

Echo International Holdings Group Limited131

19.	 AMOUNT DUE FROM A RELATED COMPANY

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2019 2018
Name of related company HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Mobile Computer Land Limited (Note (i)) 100 196
Less: allowance for expected credit loss (Note 36) (2) –

  

98 196
  

The maximum amount due from a related company outstanding during the years ended 31 March 2019 and 
2018 are as follows:

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2019 2018
Name of related company HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Mobile Computer Land Limited (Note (i)) 387 288
  

Note:

(i)	 Mr. Lo Ding Kwong, is the son of Madam Cheng and the shareholder of Mobile Computer Land Limited.

The amount due from a related company is unsecured, interest free and recoverable on demand.

Upon initial adoption of HKFRS as at 1 April 2018, an expected credit loss of HK$1,000 was recognised to 
retained earnings.

20.	 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Deposits paid and prepayments to suppliers (Note (a)) 246 997
Other deposits paid and prepayments 3,645 5,346

  

3,891 6,343
  

Note:

(a)	 The amount was mainly related to guarantees paid to against other raw materials suppliers to secure a stable supply raw material or 

requested by such suppliers.
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21.	 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Redemption option derivative (Note 29) 8,201 1,737
  

22.	 PLEDGED TIME DEPOSITS/CASH AND BANK BALANCES

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Cash and bank balances 8,310 13,340
Pledged time deposits 2,039 2,012

  

10,349 15,352
  

As at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018, cash in hand and at bank comprise of following currencies:

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

HKD 5,649 11,950
USD 2,385 983
RMB 273 404
Other 3 3

  

8,310 13,340
  

Cash in hand and at bank compose:
In the cash and bank balances at the year ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 mainly include amounts of 
approximately RMB232,000 and RMB324,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$273,000 and HK$404,000 
respectively) which were not freely convertible into other currencies. However, under Mainland China’s Foreign 
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange 
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB into other currencies through bank authorisation to 
conduct foreign exchange business.
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22.	 PLEDGED TIME DEPOSITS/CASH AND BANK BALANCES (CONTINUED)

Pledged time deposits:
As at 31 March 2019, time deposits are made for varying periods of between one day to three months 
depending cash requirements of the Group and carrying fixed interest rate of 1.81% (2018: 0.29%) per annum 
of approximately HK$2,039,000 (2018: HK$2,012,000) was pledged as collateral for bank facility of the 
Company.

Bank overdrafts:
The Group’s overdrafts facilities accounting to HK$2,000,000 (2018: HK$2,000,000), none of which (2018: Nil) 
has been utilised at the end of the reporting period, are secured by the pledge of the Group’s time deposits 
amounting to HK$2,039,000 (2018: HK$2,012,000).

23.	 TRADE PAYABLES

Details of the aging analysis are as follows:

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within 30 days 1,323 1,688
31 to 60 days 190 984
61 to 90 days 384 360
91 to 180 days 207 305
Over 180 days 189 330

  

2,293 3,667
  

The average credit period on purchase of certain goods is generally within 30 days to 90 days.

24.	 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Accruals 1,090 1,962
Other payables 89 12
Other tax payables 979 597

  

2,158 2,571
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25.	 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2019 and 2018 are set out as below:

Name of subsidiaries

Place/Principal

Place of

Operation and

date of

incorporation

Paid-up

capital or

registered

capital

Percentage of equity and voting

power attributable to the Company

Principal

activities

Type of

legal entity

Direct Indirect

2019 2018 2019 2018
         

Echo Asia (Hong Kong) 

  Limited

Hong Kong, 

  30 June 2015

HK$10,000 100% 100% – – Investment holding Limited liability 

  company

Gold Treasure Hung 

  Group Limited

BVI, 

  6 December 2010

US$10,000 100% 100% – – Investment holding Limited liability 

  company

Echo Electronics 

  Company Limited

Hong Kong, 

  24 December 2003

HK$10,000 – – 100% 100% Trading of 

  electronic 

  products and 

  accessories

Limited liability 

  company

Yi Gao Tech Electronics 

  (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.

The PRC, 

  26 May 2011

HK$4,000,000 – – 100% 100% Manufacture of 

  electronic 

  products and 

  accessories

Limited liability 

  company

Chiu Cuisine Group Limited Hong Kong, 

  4 May 2018

HK$10,000 – – 100% – Investment holding Limited liability 

  company

Chiu Cuisine Limited 

  (formerly known as 

  Chiu Cuisine 

  (Hong Kong) Limited)

Hong Kong, 

  20 October 2017

HK$10,000 – – 100% 100% Provision of food 

  catering services

Limited liability 

  company

Yuk Cuisine Limited 

  (formerly known as 

  Chiu Cuisine 

  Connoisseur Limited)

Hong Kong, 

  29 March 2018

HK$10,000 – – 100% 100% Provision of food 

  catering services

Limited liability 

  company
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26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2019
HK$’000

  

Arising from deposits of delivery of goods (Note) 654
 

Note:	 Revenue is recognised when control of the goods has transferred to the customer, being at the point the goods are delivered to the 

customer. When the customer initially purchases the goods and paid in advance, the transaction price received at that point by the 

Group is recognised as contract liability until the goods have been delivered to the customer.

At initial application of HKFRS 15 at 1 April 2018, contract liabilities of approximately HK$1,268,000 was 
reclassified from trade deposit received. The entire amount of contract liabilities at 1 April 2018 are recognised 
as revenue in the current year.

27.	 BANK BORROWING

The analysis of the carrying amount of bank borrowing is as follows:

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Secured 548 –
  

The carrying amount of the above borrowing is repayable*:
— within one year 146 –
— within a period of more than one year but not exceeding two years 151 –
— within a period of more than two years but not exceeding five years 251 –

  

548 –
Less: amount due within one year shown under current liabilities (146) –

  

402 –
  

*  The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

The secured bank borrowing was secured by motor vehicle included in property, plant and equipment with 
carrying amount of approximately HK$541,000 (2018: Nil), details please refer to Note 15).
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28.	 OBLIGATION UNDER FINANCE LEASE

The Group leased the motor vehicles under finance lease. Interest rates underlying all obligations under finance 
leases are fixed at respective contract rates at 2% (2018: 2%) per annum for the years ended 31 March 2019 
and 2018 respectively.

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Minimum lease payments under finance lease
  — within one year 136 136
  — in more than one year but more than five years 272 408

  

408 544
Less: future finance charges (28) (49)

  

Present value of finance lease 380 495
  

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Present value of minimum lease payments under finance lease
  — within one year 121 96
  — in more than one year but not more than five years 259 399

  

380 495
Less: amount due within one year shown under current liabilities (121) (96)

  

259 399
  

The Group’s obligations under finance lease are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets, which have a 
carrying amount of approximately HK$391,000 and HK$502,000 as at 31 March 2019 and 2018 respectively 
(Note 15).
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29.	 CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The convertible bonds issued have been split as to the derivative financial asset component (redemption option 
derivative component embedded in convertible bonds); the financial liability component (convertible bonds) and 
equity component (convertible bonds reserve). The following tables summarise the movements of the derivative 
financial assets; derivative financial liabilities; financial liabilities and equity component during the years ended 
31 March 2019 and 2018.

Derivative financial assets — Redemption option derivative component:

Convertible Convertible
Bond 1 Bond 2 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

At 1 April 2017 – – –
Issue of convertible bonds (1,975) – (1,975)
Issuance cost of convertible bonds (56) – (56)
Change in fair value of derivative financial asset 
  component of convertible bonds (Note 7) 294 – 294

   

At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 (1,737) – (1,737)
Issue of convertible bonds – (876) (876)
Issuance cost of convertible bonds – (26) (26)
Change in fair value of derivative financial asset 
  component of convertible bonds (Note 7) (1,425) (4,137) (5,562)

   

As 31 March 2019 (3,162) (5,039) (8,201)
   

Financial liabilities — Financial liability component:

Convertible Convertible
Bond 1 Bond 2 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

At 1 April 2017 – – –
Issue of convertible bonds 7,733 – 7,733
Issuance cost of convertible bonds (217) – (217)
Effective interest charged (Note 8) 200 – 200
Interest paid (130) – (130)

   

At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 7,586 – 7,586
Issue of convertible bonds – 9,358 9,358
Issuance cost of convertible bonds – (264) (264)
Effective interest charged (Note 8) 1,083 906 1,989
Interest paid (700) (558) (1,258)

   

As 31 March 2019 7,969 9,442 17,411
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29.	 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

Equity component:

Convertible Convertible
Bond 1 Bond 2 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

At 1 April 2017 – – –
Issue of convertible bonds 4,242 – 4,242
Issuance cost of convertible bonds (119) – (119)
Deferred tax liability arising from issue of 
  convertible bonds (Note 30) (410) – (410)

   

At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 3,713 – 3,713
Issue of convertible bonds – 4,518 4,518
Issuance cost of convertible bonds – (127) (127)
Deferred tax liability arising from issue of 
  convertible bonds (Note 30) – (644) (644)

   

As 31 March 2019 3,713 3,747 7,460
   

As at 31 March 2019, the outstanding principal of the convertible bonds was HK$23,000,000 (2018: 
HK$10,000,000).

The initial fair value of the liability portion of the bond was determined using a market interest rate for an 
equivalent non-convertible bond at the issue date. The liability is subsequently recognised on an amortised cost 
basis until extinguished on conversion or maturity of the bonds. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to 
the conversion option and recognised in shareholders’ equity, net of income tax, and not subsequently 
remeasured.

Convertible Bond 1
On 23 January 2018 (the “Issue Date 1”), the Company issued in aggregate of HK$10,000,000, 7.0% 
convertible bonds and recognised its book as of fair values appraised by an independent financial valuer 
(“Convertible Bond 1”). The Convertible Bond 1 entitle the holders to convert them into a maximum of 
50,761,421 conversion shares of the Company at any time between the date of issue of the bonds and their 
settlement date on (i) the fifth anniversary of the Issue Date 1 or (ii) if it is not a business date, the business day 
immediately before such date (the “Maturity Date 1”) at the initial conversion price of HK$0.197 per 
conversion share per convertible bonds (subject to adjustment).

Unless previously redeemed, converted, purchased or cancelled, the Company will redeem all of the Convertible 
Bond 1 on the Maturity Date 1 at price equal to 100% of the principal amounts of the Convertible Bond 1 to be 
redeemed, together with accrued interest. The Company is entitled to voluntarily redeem the whole or any part 
of the Convertible Bond 1 after the first anniversary of the issue date of the Convertible Bond 1.
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29.	 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

Convertible Bond 1 (Continued)
The Convertible Bond 1 contain three components: liability component, equity component and redemption 
option derivative, which is classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The equity component 
is presented in equity heading “convertible bonds equity component reserve”. The redemption option derivative 
is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. The effective interest rate of the 
liability component is 14.28% per annum.

The key inputs used for the calculation of the fair value of redemption option derivative component of 
Convertible Bond 1 are as follows:

As at
23 January

2018
  

Risk free rate 1.72%
Volatility 44.39%
Discount rate 14.09%

Convertible Bond 2
On 20 August 2018 (the “Issue Date 2”), the Company issued in aggregate of HK$13,000,000, 7.0% 
convertible bonds and recognised its book as of fair values appraised by an independent financial valuer 
(“Convertible Bond 2”). The Convertible Bond 2 entitle the holders to convert them into a maximum of 
122,641,509 conversion shares of the Company at any time between the date of issue of the bonds and their 
settlement date on (i) the fifth anniversary of the Issue Date 2 or (ii) if it is not a business date, the business day 
immediately before such date (the “Maturity Date 2”) at the initial conversion price of HK$0.106 per 
conversion share per convertible bonds (subject to adjustment).

Unless previously redeemed, converted, purchased or cancelled, the Company will redeem all of the Convertible 
Bond 2 on the Maturity Date 2 at price equal to 100% of the principal amounts of the Convertible Bond 2 to be 
redeemed, together with accrued interest. The Company is entitled to voluntarily redeem the whole or any part 
of the Convertible Bond 2 after the first anniversary of the issue date of the Convertible Bond 2.

The Convertible Bond 2 contain three components: liability component, equity component and redemption 
option derivative, which is classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The equity component 
is presented in equity heading “convertible bonds equity component reserve”. The redemption option derivative 
is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. The effective interest rate of the 
liability component is 16.22% per annum.
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29.	 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

Convertible Bond 2 (Continued)
The key inputs used for the calculation of the fair value of redemption option derivative component of 
Convertible Bond 2 are as follows:

As at
20 August

2018
  

Risk free rate 2.05%
Volatility 78.12%
Discount rate 16.11%

30.	 DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidation statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets 
and liabilities have been offset the following is the analysis of deferred tax balances for financial reporting 
purpose:

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Deferred tax asset 18 –
Deferred tax liabilities (922) (399)

  

(904) (399)
  

The following table is the major deferred tax asset and liabilities recognised and the movements thereon during 
the current and prior year:

ECL
provision

Convertible 
bonds Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

At 31 March 2017 – – –
Issuance of Convertible Bond 1 – (410) (410)
Credited to consolidated statement of profit or loss (Note 10) – 11 11

   

At 31 March 2018 – (399) (399)
Impact of adopting HKFRS 9 5 – 5

   

At 1 April 2018 5 (399) (394)
Issuance of Convertible Bond 2 – (644) (644)
Credited to consolidated statement of profit or loss (Note 10) 13 121 134

   

At 31 March 2019 18 (922) (904)
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31.	 SHARE CAPITAL

Number Nominal
Par value of shares value

HK$ ’000 HK$’000
    

Issued and fully paid:
As at 1 April 2017 0.0025 800,000 2,000
Issue of share capital under placing (Note (a)) 0.0025 160,000 400

  

As at 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 0.0025 960,000 2,400
Issue of shares in relation to acquisition 
  of associates (Note (b)) 0.0025 60,000 150

  

As at 31 March 2019 0.0025 1,020,000 2,550
  

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to 
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally regarding the Company’s 
residual assets.

Notes:

(a)	 On 18 July 2017, the Company placed 160,000,000 new shares to not less than six places at the placing price of HK$0.163 per placing 

share with total gross proceeds of HK$26,080,000 and the related issue expenses were HK$1,044,000.

(b)	 On 24 October 2018, the Company placed 60,000,000 new shares at the issue price of HK$0.1 for the purpose of acquisition of 

associates with cash payment of HK$200,000 for acquisition of associates, details please refer to Note 16.
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32.	 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the group’s liabilities from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash 
flows will be, classified in the group’s consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing activities.

Obligation 
under

Convertible finance Bank Bank
Debenture bonds lease overdrafts borrowing Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

As at 31 March 2017 8,000 – 224 988 – 9,212
Issue of convertible bonds – 7,733 – – – 7,733
Issuance cost of convertible bonds – (217) – – – (217)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment – – 612 – – 612
Finance cost recognised (Note 8) 483 200 33 4 – 720
Finance cost paid (483) (130) (33) (4) – (650)
Financing cash outflows (8,000) – (341) (988) – (9,329)

      

At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 – 7,586 495 – – 8,081

Issue of convertible bonds – 9,358 – – – 9,358
Issuance cost of convertible bonds – (264) – – – (264)
Proceeds from bank borrowing – – – – 746 746
Finance cost recognised (Note 8) – 1,989 21 – 33 2,043
Finance cost paid – (1,258) (21) – (33) (1,312)
Financing cash outflows – – (115) – (198) (313)

      

At 31 March 2019 – 17,411 380 – 548 18,339
      

33.	 PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME/SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has conditionally adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Share Option Scheme on 27 
September 2013.

As at the date of 30 September 2013, options to subscribe for 20,000,000 shares under the Pre-IPO Share 
Option Scheme have been granted to the Directors except for the independent non-executive Directors.

The Company has also conditionally adopted the Share Option Scheme. No option has been granted under the 
Share Option Scheme. The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of ten years 
commencing from the date of adoption, after which period no further options will be offered or granted but 
the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in all other respects with respect 
to options granted during the life of the Share Option Scheme.
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33.	 PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME/SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The Eligible Persons of the Share Option Scheme include directors, consultants or advisers and any other person 
has contributed to the Group (the “Eligible Persons”). The subscription price of the share options shall be a 
price determined by the board of directors and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing price per share as 
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the offer date; (ii) the average of the closing prices per 
share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately preceding 
the offer date; or (iii) the nominal value of the share.

An offer shall remain open for acceptance by the Eligible Persons concerned for such period as determined by 
the board of directors, being a date not later than ten business days after the offer date by which the Eligible 
Persons must accept the offer or be deemed to have declined it, provided that no such offer shall be open for 
acceptance after the tenth anniversary of the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme or after the Share 
Option Scheme has been terminated in accordance with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share 
Option Scheme and any other Share Option Schemes shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of 
shares in issue as at the date of approval of the Share Option Scheme. The Company may grant options to 
specified participant(s) beyond the 10% limit provided that the options granted in excess of such limit are 
specifically approved by the shareholders in general meeting and the participants are specifically identified by 
the Company before such approval is sought. In seeking such approval, a circular must be sent to the 
shareholders containing the required details in accordance with Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme 
together with any options outstanding and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other 
share option schemes of our Company in issue shall not exceed 30% (or such higher percentage as may be 
allowed under the GEM Listing Rules) of the total number of shares in issue from time to time.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each Eligible Persons 
(including both exercised and outstanding options under the Share Option Scheme) in any twelve-month period 
must not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company. Where any further grant of options to an 
Eligible Persons would result in excess of such limit shall be subject to the approval of the shareholders at 
general meeting with such Eligible Persons and his associates abstaining from voting.

To quantify the effect of the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the Company has 
engaged an independent external valuer, Roma Appraisals Limited (“Roma”) to compute the fair value of the 
granted options.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019

Annual Report 2019 144

33.	 PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME/SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The fair value of the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Options Scheme is determined using Black Scholes 
option pricing model. Where relevant, the expected life used in the model has been adjusted based on the 
Directors’ best estimate for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions (including the probability of 
meeting market conditions attached to the option), and behavior consideration. Expected volatility is based on 
the average historical volatilities of the comparable over the expected option periods of 6.5 years. Risk free rate 
is based on the period average yields of the Exchange Fund Notes of comparable terms issued by the Hong 
Kong Monetary assumptions.

The variables and assumptions used in computation of the fair value of Pre-IPO Share Options Scheme are based 
on the Directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies with different variables of certain objective 
assumption.

Inputs into the valuation model

Grant date share price	 HK$0.555
Exercise price	 HK$0.150
Expected volatility	 54.806%
Expected option period	 6.542 years
Risk free rate	 1.53%
Expected dividend yield	 0.00%

Movements in the share options granted to the former directors, directors, employees of the Company and 
other eligible participants during the year were as follows:

Date of grant
Exercise

price

Number of
Share

outstanding
31 March 2017

Reclassification
of share
options
during

the year

Number of
share

outstanding
31 March 2018

Number of
share

outstanding
31 March 2019

HK$ ’000 ’000 ’000 ’000
       

Director 27 September 2013 0.15 57,600 (12,000) 45,600 45,600
Employee 27 September 2013 0.15 22,400 12,000 34,400 34,400

     

– 80,000 – 80,000 80,000
     

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price
    

September 2013 11 October 2013– 11 October 2016– HK$0.15
  10 October 2016   11 October 2023

The options outstanding at the year ended 31 March 2018 have a weighted average remaining contractual life 
of 4.53 years (2018: 5.53 years). During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, no share option was 
granted, exercised, expired or lapsed.
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34.	 RESERVES

The movement of reserves of the Group during the year was shown in the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity on page 62.

(a)	 Contribution reserve
Pursuant to the deed of mutual set-off dated 27 September 2013 entered into between Madam Cheng 
(an executive director, the controlling shareholder and a founder of the Company) and the Company, 
Madam Cheng agreed to bear the expenses incurred by the Company in connection with the listing to the 
extent of HK$5.77 million by setting off against the debt of the Company owing to Madam Cheng. 
According to Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2010 and Hong Kong Accounting Standards 
1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements, this represents a transaction between the Company and 
the controlling shareholder, and the amount will be recognised in equity rather than consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income prior to the listing.

(b)	 Capital reserve
The capital reserve of the Group represents the capital contributions by Madam Cheng, a director and 
controlling shareholder of the Company, to the subsidiaries directly held by Madam Cheng before the 
reorganisation. The additions during the year represent the injection of additional paid-up capital by the 
equity holders of the subsidiaries to the respective companies by the owners of the subsidiaries, which 
were consolidated from the effective date of acquisition.

(c)	 Share option reserve
Share option reserve relates to share option granted under the Company’s share option scheme and 
which are reclassified to share capital and share premium when the share option were exercised and to 
accumulated losses when the share options were lapsed or expired.

(d)	 Exchange reserve
The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of operations outside Hong Kong.

(e)	 Convertible bonds-equity component reserve
The convertible bonds-equity component reserve represents the value of the unexercised equity 
component (conversion rights) of convertible bonds issued by the Company recognised in accordance with 
the accounting policy adopted for convertible bonds. If the convertible bonds are not converted at the 
maturity date, the convertible bonds equity reserve will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss.

35.	 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going 
concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. 
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged during the year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank overdrafts, bank borrowings, obligation under finance leases 
and equity attributable to owners of the Company (comprising issued share capital and reserves).
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35.	 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The directors of the Company review the capital structure regularly. As part of this review, the directors consider 
the cost and the risks associated with each class of the capital. Based on the recommendations of the directors, 
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends and new share issues as 
well as raising and repayment of bank borrowings.

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follow:

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Debt 18,339 8,081
Equity 40,958 28,215
Gearing ratio 44.8% 28.6%

36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)	 Categories of financial instruments

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Financial assets
Financial Assets at fair value through profit or loss
  — Redemption option derivative 8,201 1,737

  

Amortised costs
Loan and receivables (including cash and bank balances)
  — Trade receivables 4,616 4,728
  — Amount due from a related company 98 196
  — Other receivables 810 450
  — Pledged time deposits 2,039 2,012
  — Cash and bank balances 8,310 13,340

  

Financial liabilities
Amortised costs
  — Trade payables 2,293 3,667
  — Bank borrowing 548 –
  — Convertible bonds 17,411 7,586
  — Other payables 89 13
  — Obligation under finance lease 380 495
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies
The directors of the Company monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the 
Group through internal risks reports which analyses exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These 
risks include market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables, pledged time deposits, trade payables, 
convertible bonds, other receivables, other payables, amount due from a related company, cash and bank 
balances, bank borrowing and obligation under finance leases. Details of these financial instruments are 
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies on 
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management manages and monitors these exposures to 
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Credit risk and impairment assessment
As at 31 March 2019, other than those financial assets whose carrying amounts best represent the 
maximum exposure to credit risk, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk limited to trade 
receivables, amount due from a related company, deposits and other receivables and bank balances which 
will cause the carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated 
with its financial assets.

Trade receivables
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Company has delegated a team responsible 
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow 
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The Company has set the policies in place to ensure that 
transactions are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, the Group performs 
impairment assessment under ECL model upon application of HKFRS 9 (2018: incurred loss model) on 
trade receivables based on provision matrix. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the 
Company’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries and 
geographical areas. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts 
receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents
As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, all cash and cash equivalents were deposited in state owned banks and 
reputable financial institutions and were hence without significant credit risk. The Group has no significant 
concentration of credit risks, with exposure spread over a number of counter parties.

Other receivables
As at 31 March 2019, the other receivables were mainly related to other tax receivables from PRC 
government. As a result, the directors assessed the expected credit loss rate of other receivables were 
immaterial. Thus, no loss allowance for other receivables were recognised during the year.
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Provision matrix — debtors’ aging
As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment 
for its customers in relation to its operation because these customers consist of a large number of small 
customers with common risk characteristics that are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all 
amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms. The following table provides information about 
the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed based on provision matrix as at 31 
March 2019 within lifetime ECL (not credit impaired). Trade receivables with significant outstanding 
balances or credit-impaired with gross carrying amounts of approximately HK$4,725,000 as at 31 March 
2019 were assessed individually. Amount due from a related company approximately HK$100,000 as at 
31 March 2019 were assessed individually.

Gross carrying amount

At 31 March 2019 Average Trade Loss
loss rate receivables allowance

HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Current (not past due) 0.50% 2,484 12
1–30 days past due 0.87% 93 1
31–90 days past due 1.69% 806 14
91–180 days past due 3.85% 193 7
More than 180 days past due 6.49% 1,149 75

  

4,725 109
  

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of 
the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or 
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about specific 
debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group provided approximately HK$109,000 impairment 
allowance for trade receivables based on the provision matrix. Impairment allowance of approximately 
HK$35,000 and HK$74,000 were made on debtors with significant balances and credit impaired debtors 
respectively.
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Provision matrix — debtors’ aging (Continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group provided approximately HK$2,000 impairment 
allowance for amount due from a related company under general approach. Impairment allowance of 
approximately HK$2,000 was made on a related company with significant.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables 
under the simplified approach.

Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

As at 31 March 2018 under HKAS 39 – 690 690
Adjustment upon application of HKFRS 9 28 – 28

   

As at 1 April 2018 — As restated 28 690 718
Change due to financial instruments 
  recognised as at 1 April
  — Transfer to credit-impaired (2) 2 –
  — Impairment losses recognised 24 72 96
  — Impairment losses reversed (15) – (15)
  — Write-offs – (690) (690)

   

As at 31 March 2019 35 74 109
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Fair value measurements
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

(i)	 the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions traded 
on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices; and

(ii)	 the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with 
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The carrying amount of other financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost, approximate their 
respective fair values due to the relatively short-term nature of these financial instruments.

No analysis is disclosed since the Group has no financial instruments that are measured subsequent to 
initial recognition at fair value at the end of the reporting period.

Interest rate risk
The cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to variable-rate borrowings. It is the Company’s policy to 
keep its borrowings at fixed rates of interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Company has no significant interest-bearing liabilities except for borrowings and obligation under 
finance leases, details of which have been disclosed in Notes 27 and 28 respectively.

The Company has no significant interest rate risk during the year.

Foreign currency risk
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with 
respect to HK$, USD and RMB. HK$ is pegged to the USD and the foreign exchange exposures between 
them are considered limited, therefore, the Group is mainly exposed to the effects of fluctuation in RMB. 
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net 
investments in foreign operations. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. 
However, the management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider the need of hedging 
significant foreign currency exposures.

No sensitivity analysis on foreign currency risk is performed since the Group’s has no material foreign 
currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period.
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk
The Group has laid down an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of 
the short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management, which is reviewed regularly by the 
Directors. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and banking facilities, by 
continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and maintains a conservative level of long-term 
funding to finance its short-term financial assets.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial 
liabilities. The tables below have been drawn up based on the contractual maturities of the undiscounted 
financial liabilities including interest that will accrue to those liabilities except where the Group are entitled 
and intends to repay the liability before its maturity.

As at 31 March 2019

More than More them
Weighted On demand one year but two years Total Total

Average or within not not undiscounted carrying
Interest rate one year two years five years cash flow amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

Non-derivate financial liabilities
Trade payables – 2,293 – – 2,293 2,293
Other payables – 89 – – 89 89
Convertible bonds 15.4% – – 23,000 23,000 17,411
Bank borrowing 1.8% 163 163 257 583 548
Obligation under finance lease 2% 136 136 136 408 380

     

2,681 299 23,393 26,373 20,721
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
As at 31 March 2018

More than More them
Weighted On demand one year but two years Total Total

Average or within not not undiscounted carrying
Interest rate one year two years five years cash flow amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

Non-derivate financial liabilities
Trade payables – 3,667 – – 3,667 3,667
Other payables – 13 – – 13 13
Convertible bonds 14.3% – – 10,000 10,000 7,586
Obligation under finance lease 2% 136 272 136 544 495

     

3,816 272 10,136 14,224 11,761
     

(c)	 Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(i)	 Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value 

on a recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are required)
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

(a)	 the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) 
are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted 
cash flow analysis; and

(b)	 the fair value of derivative instruments are calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices 
are not available, a discounted cash flow analysis is performed using the applicable yield curve 
for the duration of the instruments for non-optional derivatives, and option pricing models for 
optional derivatives.
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c)	 Fair value measurements of financial instruments (Continued)
(i)	 Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value 

on a recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are required) (Continued)
Except for the liability component of convertible bonds which recorded at amortised cost as below, 
the Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded 
at amortised cost in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position approximate to their 
fair values.

31 March 2019 31 March 2018
Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Non-current liabilities
Convertible bonds 17,411 18,790 7,586 7,763

    

The fair value of the liability component is the present value of the contractually determined stream 
of future cash flows discounted at the interest applied at that time by the market to instruments of 
comparable credit status and providing substantially the same cash flows, on the same terms, but 
without conversion option.

As at 31 March 2019, the fair value of convertible bonds of approximately HK$18,790,000 (2018: 
HK$7,763,000). The fair value of liabilities component of convertible bonds was valued by an 
independent valuer. The convertible bonds was calculated by discounting the future cash flow at 
market rate and including some unobservable inputs. See Note 29 for the details information of 
convertible bonds.
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36.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c)	 Fair value measurements of financial instruments (Continued)
(ii)	 Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a 

recurring basis
Some of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair 
value at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018. The following table gives information about how the 
fair values of these financial assets and financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation 
technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair Value as Valuation Significant
At 31 March Fair value techniques and unobservable

2019 hierarchy key input inputs
HK$’000

     

Financial assets
Derivative financial instruments:
  — Redemption option derivative
      embedded in the
      Convertible Bond 1

3,162 Level 3 Binominal model
Key inputs:

Risk free rate,
volatility and
discount rate

Risk free rate of
1.41%, volatility
of 89.43%, and

discount rate
of 13.55%

(note)
Derivative financial instruments:
  — Redemption option derivative
      embedded in the
      Convertible Bond 2

5,039 Level 3 Binominal model
Key inputs:

Risk free rate,
volatility and
discount rate

Risk free rate of
1.40%, volatility
of 91.30%, and

discount rate
of 13.40%

(note)

Fair Value as Valuation Significant
At 31 March Fair value techniques and unobservable

2018 hierarchy key input inputs
HK$’000

     

Financial assets
Derivative financial instruments:
  — Redemption option derivative
      embedded in the
      Convertible Bond 1

142 Level 3 Binominal model
Key inputs:

Risk free rate,
volatility and
discount rate

Risk free rate of
1.74%, volatility
of 43.65%, and

discount rate
of 14.19%

(note)

Note:

An increase in the discount rate in isolation would result in a decrease in the fair value measurement of term extension derivative 

embedded in the convertible bond.

An increase in the share price volatility in isolation would result in a decrease in the fair value measurement of term extension 

derivative embedded in the convertible bond.
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37.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as 
follows:

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Non-current assets
Interests in associates 20,921 –

  

20,921 –
  

Current assets
Amount due from subsidiaries 24,367 22,116
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 170 304
Pledged time deposits 2,039 2,012
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 8,201 1,737
Cash and bank balance 4,527 10,964

  

39,304 37,133
  

Current liabilities
Amounts due to subsidiaries 934 934

  

934 934
  

Net current assets 38,370 36,199
  

Total assets less current liabilities 59,291 36,199
  

Non-current liabilities
Convertible bonds 17,411 7,586
Deferred taxation 922 398

  

18,333 7,984
  

Net assets 40,958 28,215
  

Capital and reserves
Share capital 2,550 2,400
Reserves (Note) 38,408 25,815

  

Total equity 40,958 28,215
  

Approved by the Board of Directors on 19 June 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

Lo, Yan Yee Cheng, Yeuk Hung
Executive Director Executive Director
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37.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 
(CONTINUED)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserve is as follows:

Convertible

bonds-equity

Share Contribution Share option component Accumulated

Premium reserve reserve reserve loss Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

As at 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 28,840 4,836 5,794 – (28,285) 11,185

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – – (13,719) (13,719)

Share placing 25,680 – – – – 25,680

Issuance cost on share placing (1,044) – – – – (1,044)

Issuance of convertible bonds – – – 4,242 – 4,242

Issuance cost on convertible bonds – – – (119) – (119)

Deferred tax liability arising from 

  issue of convertible bonds – – – (410) – (410)
      

As at 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 53,476 4,836 5,794 3,713 (42,004) 25,815

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – – 2,996 2,996

Share placing 5,850 – – – – 5,850

Issuance of convertible bonds – – – 4,518 – 4,518

Issuance cost on convertible bonds – – – (127) – (127)

Deferred tax liability arising from 

  issue of convertible bonds – – – (644) – (644)
      

As at 31 March 2019 59,326 4,836 5,794 7,460 (39,008) 38,408
      

As at 31 March 2019, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the 
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to 
approximately HK$25,154,000 (2018: HK$16,308,000). The amount represents the net of Company’s 
contribution reserve, share premium, and accumulated losses, which may be distributable provided that 
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a 
position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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38.	 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had entered into transactions 
with related parties which, in the opinion of the directors, were carried out on normal commercial terms and in 
the ordinary course of the Group’s business, as shown below:

(a)	 Significant related party transactions
Particulars of significant related party transactions during the year, the Group entered into the following 
transactions with related parties:

Nature of related party transactions

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Sales to Mobile Computer Land Limited (Note (i)) 618 738
Rental paid to Mobile Computer Land Limited (Note (i)) 574 519
Purchase of property, plant and equipment paid to 
  Mobile Computer Land Limited (Note (i)) 3 3
Consultancy fee paid to Vashion Assets 
  Management Limited (Note (ii)) 1,200 1,200

  

Notes:

(i)	 The sales to, purchase of property, plant and equipment from and rental paid to Mobile Computer Land Limited which major 

shareholder is Mr. Lo Ding Kwong, is the son of Madam Cheng, constitutes a connected transaction for the Company under 

Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, but is fully exempt from shareholders’ approval and all disclosure requirements under 

Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

(ii)	 Consultancy contracts entered into between the Group and its Director Ms. Zhou Jia Lin in an amount of approximately 

HK$574,000 (2018: approximately HK$519,000) also constitutes a connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 20 of 

the GEM Listing Rules, but is fully exempt from shareholders’ approval and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of the 

GEM Listing Rules.

(b)	 Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key personnel management, including amount paid to the Company’s directors and 
certain of the highest paid employees, as disclosed in Notes 13 and 14 respectively to the consolidated 
financial statements, is as follows:

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Salaries and allowances (including directors’ fee) 5,230 7,668
Retirement scheme contribution 98 151

  

5,328 7,819
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39.	 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessee
The Group leases its office properties and factory under operating lease arrangements. Leases for the properties 
are negotiated for terms of two years.

At the end of reporting period, the Group had total future minimum lease payables under non-cancellable 
operating leases falling due as follows:

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within one year 6,826 7,077
In the second to fifth years inclusive 4,461 11,161

  

11,287 18,238
  

40.	 CAPITAL COMMITMENT

The Group and the Company did not have any significant capital commitments as at 31 March 2019 and 2018.

41.	 COMPARATIVES

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 April 2018. Under the transition method, 
comparative information is not restated. Further details of the changes in accounting policies as disclosed in 
Note 2.

42.	 SUBSEQUENT EVENT

Besides elsewhere in consolidated financial statement, the Group did not have other material subsequent event.

43.	 APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 19 
June 2019.
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted 
from the published audited financial statements and the Prospectus, is set out below:

For the year ended 31 March
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Results
Revenue 52,817 38,324 41,657 58,345 51,807

     

Profit/(loss) before taxation 5,309 (14,686) (13,993) (13,880) (12,631)
Taxation (37) (30) – 141 –

     

Profit/(loss) for the year 5,272 (14,716) (13,993) (13,739) (12,631)
     

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 5,272 (14,716) (13,993) (13,739) (12,631)

     

For the year ended 31 March
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Assets and liabilities
Total assets 65,536 44,242 29,462 44,383 49,811
Total liabilities 24,578 (16,027) (16,277) (17,169) (9,885)

     

40,958 28,215 13,185 27,214 39,926
     

Total equity 40,958 28,215 13,185 27,214 39,926
     




